IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FEB S 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

LARRY	DEAN KRAMER,)	
	Appellant,	, ,	
vs .) CASE NO.	78,659
STATE	OF FLORIDA,	,	
	Appellee.	Ś	

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY
FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

MICHAEL S. BECKER
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
112 Orange Ave., Ste. A
Daytona Beach, FL 32114
(904) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 12, 1990, the Grand Jury in and for Orange County Florida returned an indictment charging Appellant, LARRY DEAN KRAMER, with one count of first degree premeditated murder, in violation of Section 782.04(1)(a)1, Florida Statutes (1989). (R 904) Appellant filed numerous pre-trial motions including a motion to declare Section 921.141(5)(h), Florida Statutes (1989) unconstitutional. (R 944-957) This motion was denied. (R 1092)

Appellant proceeded to jury trial on April 29 - May 2, 1991, with the Honorable Richard F. Conrad, Circuit Judge, presiding. (R 1-554) During jury selection, the defense objected to the state's peremptory challenge to an African American venireman. (R 294-296) The court overruled the defense objection after requiring the state to set forth its reasons for

exercising its challenge. (R 296) At the conclusion of the evidence, Appellant moved for a judgment of acquittal on the grounds that the state had not proven either felony murder or premeditation, but rather had only proved that there was drinking which led to a fight and the ultimate death of the victim. (R 463) The trial court denied the judgment of acquittal. (R 466) The trial court denied several requested jury instructions by the defense. (R 471-481) During closing argument, the defense made several objections to comments made by the prosecutor, which objections were overruled. (R 506-508, 509, 510) Following deliberations, the jury returned a verdict finding Appellant quilty as charged. (R 548, 1129)

The penalty phase portion of Appellant's trial was held on July 22 - 23, 1991. (R 555-888) Prior to the commencement of the penalty phase, defense counsel made a motion in limine to prevent the state from disclosing with regard to Appellant's prior felony conviction for attempted first degree murder, that the victim of that offense subsequently died. (R 564-572) The trial court granted this motion to the extent that it ruled the state must first proffer any testimony with regard to this matter. (R 572) When this motion in limine was violated, defense counsel moved for a mistrial. (R 596-597) The trial court ultimately denied the motion for mistrial although it did note that the prosecutor had violated the ruling on the motion in limine. (R 845-846) During closing arguments, defense counsel on three separate occasions argued in violation of the motion in

limine. (R 851, 853, 864) Defense counsel objected and moved for a mistrial which motions were denied. (R 851, 853, 864) Following deliberations, the jury returned an advisory verdict recommending by a nine-to-three vote that Appellant be sentenced to death. (R 880, 1243)

On September 6, 1991, Appellant again appeared before Judge Conrad for sentencing. (R 889-896) Judge Conrad adjudicated Appellant guilty and in accordance with the jury recommendation, sentenced Appellant to death. (R 890-891) Judge Conrad filed a written finding of facts with regard to the aggravating and mitigating circumstances. (R 1271-1286)

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal on September 11, 1991. (R 1288) Appellant was adjudged insolvent and the Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent him on appeal. (R 1300)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On November 7, 1990, Buddy Leggett, an employee of the City of Orlando, was picking up trash on Interstate 4 when he discovered a body in the gutter on the South Street on-ramp. (R 309-310) The body was not easily visible from the road and looked like it had been there for a couple of days. (R 310) Leggett waved down a police officer coming up the ramp and alerted him to the discovery. (R 311) The body was eventually identified as that of Walter Edward Traskos. (R 444)

An autopsy was performed on the body of the victim and it was determined that the victim received numerous blows about his head and face causing fractures to the base of the skull and front of the skull, numerous abrasions and hemorrhaging into the right eye socket. (R 354-358) The fracture was caused by a severe blow with a blunt instrument. (R 359) The medical examiner estimated that the victim suffered a minimum of 9 to 10 (R 359) The cause of death was determined to be skull and facial fractures due to blunt force injuries of the head due to a beating. (R 363) The doctor opined that probably only one major blow was fatal. (R 364) The injuries to the victim's body including contusions and abrasions on his chest, elbows, knees and hands were consistent with either falling or being struck by an object. (R 364-365) At the time of his death, the victim had a blood alcohol level of .23 which indicates that the person was intoxicated and his judgment, motor skills, and coordination were impaired. (R 366)

A large rock was found several hundred feet down the concrete drainage ditch which parallels the on-ramp. (R 314)

The major blow to the victim was delivered while he was lying on the ground. (R 379) The other blows were probably not delivered while he was lying on the ground. (R 379)

Officer John Parks, of the Orlando Police Department was the lead investigator in this crime. (R 446) After interviewing Philip Unser, Parks attempted to locate Appellant with Unser's help. (R 446) Unser and Parks went to the Orlando Public Library where they found Appellant and Parks arrested him. Parks spoke to Appellant and read him his Miranda rights. (R 450) At first, Appellant indicated that he wanted to see an attorney, at which point Parks told him that he would stop any interrogation. (R 451) However, Appellant then told Parks that he wanted to continue without an attorney and agreed to give a taped statement. (R 451) In his initial statement, Appellant told Parks that he had last seen the victim whom he knew as Kyle on the afternoon of Wednesday, November 7, 1990. Appellant said that he and Kyle had purchased some beer and went up to the culvert area near the South Street entrance to I-4. (R 453) When they got there, there was another person who stayed for a couple of hours. (R 453) Approximately four hours after they had gotten there, Appellant left. (R 453) At the time he left, Kyle was asleep and uninjured. (R 453) Appellant met up with another person and then went to the coalition for the homeless. (R 453) Appellant and this friend bought some more

beer and then went to the railroad tracks near the Omni Hotel. (R 453) They stayed there four or five hours after which Appellant left to go get something to eat. (R 453) Appellant then went to the Methodist Church on Magnolia where he spent the night. (R 453) After giving this statement, Parks indicated that he did not believe that Appellant was telling the truth. (R 455) Parks showed Appellant a photo of Philip Unser and told Appellant that Unser had told the truth about the incident and that Parks believed that Appellant killed Traskos. (R 455) Appellant seemed shocked and told Parks that he was willing to tell the truth. (R 455) Parks then took a second taped statement from Appellant. (R 455-456) In the second statement, Appellant told Parks that on Wednesday afternoon, he and the victim got into a fight and that the victim had pulled a knife on (R 456) The knife was simple pocket knife with a single blade. (R 456) Appellant picked up a good sized rock and threw it at Kyle hitting him in the head. (R 456) The victim fell to the ground and as he started to get back up, Appellant again hit him with the rock. (R 456) Appellant said he did not hit the victim anymore and did not know if the victim was still alive. (R 456) After this, Appellant changed his pants because they had (R 456) Appellant threw his pants in a dumpster blood on them. not far from where the offense occurred. (R 456) Appellant just simply threw the rock down the culvert. (R 456) Appellant then grabbed the knife and headed towards the Library and Lake Eola where he threw the knife. (R 456) Appellant said that when they

first got into the fight, they had just been wrestling around and he had hit the victim with his fist a couple of times. (R 456) Appellant stated that he may have even grabbed the victim by the throat and stuck his thumb in his eye one time. (R 456) Eventually they separated and the victim stood up and pulled out his knife. (R 456) The victim started coming towards him with the knife so Appellant picked up the rock and threw it. (R 456) Although the victim ducked a bit, the rock hit him in the forehead and knocked him down. (R 456) As the victim started to get back up with the knife in hand, Appellant hit him again with the rock. (R 456) Appellant stated that he was sorry that the whole thing happened. (R 456)

Numerous beer cans were found in the area near the body. (R 458, 312, 320)

PENALTY PHASE:

In 1987, Appellant pled guilty to the offense of attempted first degree murder. (R 584) This offense occurred at Interstate 4 as it crosses over South Street. (R 590) Appellant had used a concrete block to beat the victim. (R 592-593) Appellant had given an oral and written confession to this offense. (R 592) The victim was blinded in one eye and had no memory of the incident. (R 595) The victim was beaten severely about the face with the concrete block. (R 593) There were numerous beer cans around the scene. (R 597) Although Investigatory Chisari thought that Appellant may have been

drinking, he did not consider him intoxicated. (R 599) However, Officer Dennis McDowell testified that Appellant appeared to him to be intoxicated. (R 625)

Appellant was born in 1962 in Illinois where his father was stationed in the Air Force. (R 632) He has an older brother and a younger sister. (R 632) In 1968, when Appellant was six years old, his family was transferred to Washington D.C. (R 632) Appellant developed some serious visual problems and was diagnosed as being highly myopic. (R 633) Eventually, Appellant was told that he would go blind. (R 633) Appellant tried to wear contacts but because of the irregular shape of his eyes, was (R 632) Therefore, from the age of 6 years, Appellant was forced to wear glasses. (R 634) Also at this time, Appellant had an undeveloped kidney removed. (R 636) Although Appellant could play Little League, he was unable to play any contact (R 637) sports. In Junior High School, Appellant was required to stay in a special Physical Education class for the handicapped. (R 638) Both Appellant's older brother and his younger sister were quite active in school activities and sports. (R 638) Appellant's father retired from the Air Force in 1973 and the family moved to Orlando.

Approximately six months before his retirement,

Frederick Kramer began drinking. (R 707) After they moved to

Orlando, Frederick Kramer continued to drink very heavily which

created a lot of tension in the family. (R 708, 726-727)

Appellant's parents fought increasingly which caused the children

to stay away from them. (R 727) Frederick Kramer verbally abused his wife and his children. (R 711, 728, 696)

Shortly after their move to Orlando, Frederick Kramer found evidence of Appellant's use of alcohol and marijuana. (R 640-642) Appellant's involvement in alcohol and drugs had escalated and Appellant ran away from home on several occasions. (R 729)

After Appellant was arrested and sentenced to prison in 1987, his family noticed a big change in him. (R 733, 653, 684-685, 692) While in prison, Appellant was a model inmate. (R 660-665, 742-744) Appellant became a very trusted inmate and was picked to join the work crew which was allowed to go outside the prison compound to do maintenance work along the highways. (R 661-663) Appellant took advantage of numerous extra-curricular activities while in prison. (R 663) Appellant attended church services faithfully and volunteered for special projects. (R 743) On the occasions when Appellant was outside the prison, he never tried to leave and never presented any trouble. (R 667, 744)

Appellant often babysat his neighbor's children and was very good with the children including one which was handicapped. (R 676) Often Appellant would fill in as a lifeguard at a pool and one time saved the life of a little girl who slipped and fell into the pool. (R 677)

Jonathan Lipman, a neuropharmacologist, testified that he ran numerous tests on Appellant, interviewed him for five and

one half hours, and had access to police reports, witness statements and Appellant's personal history. (R 766-773) on the findings, Dr. Lipman was of the opinion that Appellant is an alcoholic who is selectively and exclusively vulnerable to (R 789) In Dr. Lipman's opinion, Appellant suffers from episodic discontrol syndrome, which is also called explosive disorder or intermittent explosive disorder. (R 789) Persons suffering from this illness are normally non-violent but subject to episodes of violence which occur when they are under the influence of alcohol. (R 790) When Appellant gets drunk, he emits violence and rage completely out of proportion to the stimulus which triggers it. (R 792) The rage which defendant feels is often over nothing and the onset is abrupt and without warning. (R 794) This violence can last minutes to hours and it is followed by remorse. (R 794) In numerous well-documented cases, statistics show a higher incidence of this illness where the sufferer had an alcoholic father. (R 796) Appellant fits the pattern of such a person with his self-destructive behavior. Episodic discontrol syndrome is a mental illness and is behavioral-defined disorder. (R 807) In Dr. Lipman's opinion, Appellant was under the influence of extreme mental and emotional disturbance at the time he committed the offense. (R 808) also Dr. Lipman's opinion that Appellant could not appreciate the criminality of his conduct and could not conform his conduct to the requirement of law. (R 809) Appellant suffers from pathological intoxication which means that he needs only drink a

small amount to get intoxicated. (R 817)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

POINT I: The trial court erred in accepting the state's insufficient explanation of its peremptory challenge to the sole black juror from the venire. The defendant timely and properly objected to the state's backstrike of the black juror. The burden then shifted to the state to justify the peremptory challenge on race neutral grounds. The state clearly failed to carry this burden and the court's acceptance of the venire as challenged violated the defendant's federal and Florida constitutional rights to a fair and impartial jury.

POINT II: The trial court erred in restricting the cross-examination of the medical examiner regarding the presence of fresh needle marks on the body of the victim. This evidence was relevant to the defense's theory of the case and was proper inasmuch as the state opened the door to such testimony when it asked the doctor about the presence of any drugs in the system of the victim. This denial of the opportunity to fully and fairly cross-examine a key state witness violated Appellant's right to fair trial.

POINT III: The evidence produced by the state was insufficient to prove as a matter of law that Appellant was guilty of first degree premeditated murder. In the light most favorable to the state, the evidence showed that Appellant and the victim had been drinking, an argument ensued, and Appellant killed the victim. There was uncontradicted and unrefuted

evidence that the victim had pulled a knife on Appellant. While this evidence was sufficient to support a conviction for second degree murder, it was insufficient as a matter of law to permit the case to proceed to the jury on the charge of first degree murder.

POINT IV: The trial court erred in admitting into evidence both at the guilt phase and at the penalty phase various slides of the victim which graphically and gruesomely showed wounds. These photographs had no relevance to any issue of fact before the jury and even if marginally relevant was so prejudicial as to outweigh any probative value they may have. Further, in the penalty phase the slides of the previous victim were totally irrelevant to prove any aggravating circumstance. The sole purpose of such photographs was to inflame the passions of the jury.

POINT V: The trial court erred in allowing assistant state attorney Jeffery Ashton to comment on the fact that Appellant exercised his constitutional right to remain silent. Further, the trial court erred in permitting Ashton to argue in such a way that suggested to the jury that the defense had some burden of producing evidence.

POINT VI: The trial court erred in denying Appellant's requested jury instructions during the guilt phase which were correct statements of the law, directly applicable to his theory of defense, and were not adequately covered by the standard jury instructions. These instructions included an instruction

concerning the heat of passion killing and one which instructed the jury on how to consider the gory photographs which were admitted into evidence.

Appellant's objections and denying his motions for mistrial based on the fact that the prosecutor Jeffery Ashton had violated a court order on a motion in limine and repeatedly commented on irrelevant and highly prejudicial matters which were not in evidence. In particular, Ashton intentionally violated the court's order on the motion in limine precluding him from making any mention that the victim of a prior criminal offense by Appellant had died.

POINT VIII: Florida statutory aggravating circumstance of heinous, atrocious and cruel is unconstitutional. The Florida Statute suffers from the same infirmities condemned by the United States Supreme Court in Shell v. Mississippi, 498 U.S. ____, 111 S. Ct. ____, 112 L.Ed.2d 1 (1990).

POINT IX: The trial court committed reversible error by refusing to instruct the jury during the penalty phase on correct statements of law as requested by defense counsel. These requested instructions were accurate statements of the law and were particularly applicable to the facts of the instant case.

POINT X: The trial court erred in finding that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel. There was insufficient evidence to show that the victim was subjected to any prolonged period of torture or that he had any sense of his

impending death. Further, the unrebutted evidence was that Appellant suffered from a mental illness. This factor should be considered in lessening the impact of any finding of heinous, atrocious and cruel.

POINT XI: The trial court erred in refusing to find the mitigating factor that Appellant suffered from the mental illness known as episodic dyscontrol syndrome. The evidence presented with regard to this finding was overwhelming and uncontradicted. It was also competent and substantial. The trial court's rejection of this evidence is not supported by any competent record evidence. The failure of the trial court to find this factor in mitigation renders the sentence unlawful.

POINT XII: Under the totality of the circumstances, the imposition of the death penalty is proportionally unwarranted in this case. Despite the presence of one or possibly two aggravating circumstances, the overwhelming evidence in mitigation leads to the conclusion that the death penalty is unwarranted.

POINT I

IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I, SECTION 16 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION, THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING THE DEFENDANT'S OBJECTION TO THE STATE'S USE OF A PEREMPTORY CHALLENGE TO THE ONLY BLACK JUROR ON THE POTENTIAL PANEL WHERE THE REASON GIVEN BY THE PROSECUTOR WAS INSUFFICIENT AND PRETEXTUAL.

An individual's right to an impartial jury representing a cross-section of the community is guaranteed by Article I, Section 16, Florida Constitution and the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. The purpose of peremptory challenges used during jury selection is to promote the selection of an impartial jury. "It was not intended that such challenges be used solely as a scalpel to excise a distinct racial group from a representative cross-section of society. It was not intended that such challenges be used to encroach upon the constitutional guarantee of an impartial jury." State v. Neil, 457 So.2d 481, 486 (Fla. 1984); See also Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986).

As soon as the prosecutor, Jeffrey Ashton, announced that he intended to backstrike jury number 27, defense counsel made the following objection:

MS. CASHMAN: Your Honor, that's the second black that the State has struck. We would ask that they give a race neutral reason for Ms. Davis. I don't recall her giving any answers why she couldn't be fair.

For purposes of the record, Ms. Wright, being juror number 109, and seat nine is the other black that the State struck. I know that she had expressed concern about her fairness

earlier.

I understand why they struck Ms. Wright. I'm objecting to them striking Ms. Davis, because I feel this is to just remove the only black left on the jury. I'm sorry if I didn't make myself clear on it. (R 294-295)

The state then willingly gave its reason for striking Ms. Davis:

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