IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE

MAY 4 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT. By. Chief Deputy Glerk

LARRY DEAN KRAMER,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 78,659

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL PROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KELLIE A. NIELAN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FL. BAR. #618550 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

<u>POINT 1</u>: Counsel below never objected to the state's reasons or rating scale, so appellee submits the claim has been waived. In any event, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in determining that the state gave valid, nonracial reasons for backstriking the juror. The record demonstrates a valid basis for the prosecutor's rating scale, and also demonstrates that the challenged juror was sufficiently questioned on both issues and her answers differ from those of the seated jurors and the juror the state found preferable.

<u>POINT 2</u>: The issue is not cognizable since there was no proffer of the question or what the witness would have answered, nor was the alleged relevance of the evidence that is being argued on appeal argued to the trial court. Even if the claim is cognizable, the trial court's ruling is correct since the question exceeded the scope of direct examination and the evidence the defense was attempting to elicit was irrelevant.

<u>POINT 3</u>: The trial court properly denied Kramer's motion for judgment of acquittal, There was substantial competent evidence from which the jury could have concluded, to the exclusion of all other inferences, that the murder **was** premeditated.

<u>POINT 4</u>: The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting photographs of the victim **and** crime scene. The pictures were relevant and were used by the medical examiner during his testimony. Even if error occurred as to any of the

- 2 -

photographs, it was harmless at worst as the verdict could not have been affected.

<u>POINT 5</u>: The trial court correctly ruled on defense counsel's objections to the prosecutor's closing argument. The prosecutor's comments were not even erroneous, particularly when viewed in conjunction with defense counsel's closing argument. Even if error occurred it was harmless as the trial court gave a curative instruction and the remarks were not so prejudicial **as** ta warrant a new trial.

<u>POINT 6</u>: The trial court correctly denied Kramer's requested guilt phase jury instructions since the standard instructions adequately apprised the jury of the law. Error, if any, was harmless.

<u>POINT 7</u>: Kramer was not denied a fair trial due to prosecutorial comment during the penalty phase. There is nothing in the record to show that the prosecutor deliberately and intentionally misled the jury, and nothing to demonstrate that the jury was in fact misled or relied on improper factors in recommending the death sentence.

<u>POINT 8</u>: This court's construction of the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating factor comports with constitutional standards. The trial court expressly acknowledged this court's construction of this factor in its sentencing order and expressly set forth the factual basis to support its finding of this factor.

<u>POINT 9</u>: The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Kramer's requested jury instructions in the penalty phase. This court has consistently held that the standard instructions are sufficient to apprise the jury of the applicable law and has consistently rejected claims that a trial court should have given additional instructions at the penalty phase. <u>POINT 10</u>: The trial court correctly found that the murder of Walter Traskos was heinous, atrocious or cruel. **Kramer** savagely beat the victim as the victim attempted to flee and fend off the blows. The absence of any injuries to Kramer indicates it was a one-sided fight, with the victim's only actions being evasive and defensive. The victim would have known what was happening to him, would have felt the blows delivered by Kramer and the pain from the injuries they caused, and would have been contemplating his own demise as he lay helpless in the culvert while Kramer found a rock, then delivered the final, fatal blows.

<u>POINT 11</u>: The trial court acted well within its discretion in rejecting Dr. Lipman's opinion, which was at best equivocal and based on Kramer's unsubstantiated and suspect self report. There was no error in the trial court's consideration of mitigating evidence.

<u>POINT 12</u>: Compared with other cases where the jury has recommended death and the trial court has imposed the death penalty, Kramer's case warrants the death penalty. There are two aggravating factors to be weighed against minimal mitigation.

POINT 1

THE TRIAL, COURT DID NOT ERR IN PERMITTING THE STATE TO USE A PEREMPTORY CHALLENGE TO EXCUSE A BLACK JUROR.

Kramer contends that the trial court erred in overruling his objection to the state's use of a peremptory challenge to the

- 4 -

only black juror on the potential panel, claiming that the reason given by the prosecutor was insufficient and pretextual. Both the defendant and the victim are white. The original venire consisted of 42 prospective jurors; each was asked to fill out a questionnaire on the death penalty, and individual *voir* dire was conducted on this issue (R 14, 18-217). Eight of those jurors were excused for cause (R 217). The remaining jurors returned for general *voir dire*, and were first questioned as a group by the trial court (R 219-34). Next the prosecutor questioned the prospective jurors as a group (R 234-38). The prosecutor then stated:

> Now, this last question is one that I want you to take some time on and discuss with each and every one of you. Let me preface it by saying this. There are two divergent schools of thought an issue I will call the issue of an personal responsibility. There is a school of thought that says that what a person does in his life or crimes that he commits are the products of genetics. That is, how he was born, and his upbringing, how he was brought **up**. And this school of thought says that since a person doesn't have any control over how they are born, and doesn't have any control over how they are raised, that shouldn't really thev be held responsible for what they do. That they are the product of something beyond their control and that in criminal cases, in particular in death penalty cases, that they really aren't responsible for what they do. That they commit crimes not because they are bad people, but because they are sick people, or because of the way they were That's one school of thought, raised. On the other end, there is a spectrum of opinion, there are people everywhere in between, other end of the opinion is people commit crimes because they decide

People don't commit crimes because to. they were depraved (sic) or abused or poor or rich or mentally ill, they do it because they want to and they ought to be held responsible for whatever they Now, what I want to find out from do. each of you is where do you put yourself on that spectrum. What do you think about that. And that is a serious question, and please, give it some careful thought, because I want to know where you all stand on that spectrum of Again, as with the death opinion. penalty, there is no right answer, there is no wrong answer. There is simply a number of different opinions. I would like to talk to you about this, and what I am going to do in order to keep you awake a little bit more, I won't go row I'm jumping around. by row. So be alert.

(R 238-39). The prosecutor then sought each juror's individual position as to personal responsibility (R 240-51).

After general questioning was completed, further challenges and excusals for cause were made, and the parties began exercising peremptory challenges until there were twelve prospective jurors (R 289-93). The state then backstruck juror number twelve and accepted juror number 28, who the defense struck (R 294). Both parties accepted juror number 29, and the state backstruck juror number 27, who is the juror at issue (R 294).

Defense counsel noted that it was the second black juror the state had moved to strike, and asked that the state give a race neutral reason (R 294). Defense counsel stated that she understood why the state had moved to strike **the** first **black** juror, **as** that juror had expressed concerns about fairness (R **294)**. The prosecutor then explained that he keeps a chart, and does not note the jurors' races on it, but rates the jurors on a numerical scale of one to five based on their opinions on the death penalty questions and personal responsibility questions (R 295). The prosecutor stated that the next juror up had scored better on both the personal accountability question (five out of five as opposed to four out of five) and the death penalty question (3.5 out of five a3 opposed to three out of five) (R 295-96), and he preferred that juror because her responses on those two key issues were better (R 296).

The trial court made a finding that the defense had made a *prima facie* showing, but expressed doubt as to whether in fact it really had (R 296). The court went on to find that the state's reasons were race neutral and legitimate, and there was no indication that any juror had been singled out because of race (R 296-97). The court determined this based upon the prosecutor's rating scale, and stated that the reasons were not pretextual as far as race was concerned (R 297).

The initial presumption is that peremptories will be exercised in a nondiscriminatory manner. *State v. Neil*, 457 So.2d 481, 486 (Fla. 1984). The procedure to be followed under these circumstances is:

> There must be an objection that the challenges **are** being exercised in a racially discriminatory manner. At this point, the judge should determine if there has been a prima facie showing that there is a strong likelihood that the jurors have been challenged because of their race, *Neil*. If legitimate reasons for the challenge are not apparent from the jurors' statements but are other reasons these why the

> > - 7 -

challenges do not appear to be racially motivated, the judge should note these reasons on the record. If the judge rules that a prima facie showing has been made, the burden shifts to the challenging party to demonstrate valid, nonracial reasons why each minority juror has been stricken. Thomp State, 548 So.2d 198 (Fla, 1989). Thompson u. The judge must then evaluate the proffered deciding whether reasons in the objection is well taken.

Valle v. State, 581 So.2d 40, 44 (Fla. 1991). A trial court is vested with broad discretion in determining whether peremptory challenges are racially intended. *Reed v. State*, 560 So.2d 203 (Fla. 1990). The trial judge has the responsibility to evaluate both the credibility of the person giving the explanation and the credibility of the reasons asserted. *Green v. State*, 583 So.2d 647 (Fla. 1991).

Kramer alleges that two of the five factors listed in State 1988), Slappy, 522 So.2d 18 (Fla, are present here, υ. specifically, 1) a perfunctory examination an the questioned issue; and, 2) reasons equally applicable to all jurors. Kramer further alleges that the state's reason had to do with a personal rating scale and that there is nothing in the record to indicate a basis upon which these ratings are applied. Counsel below never claimed that these factors were present, nor did counsel dispute the prosecutor's rating scale, so appellee submits that this argument has not been preserved for appellate review, Bowden v. State, 588 So.2d 225 (Fla. 1991).

In any event, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in determining that the state gave valid, nonracial reasons for

- 8 -

backstriking the juror. Reed, supra. Appellee wauld first point out that even if counsel's apparent acceptance of the prosecutor's reasons is not sufficient to waive the claim, it certainly should weigh heavily towards determining that the trial court did not abuse its discretion. See, Happ v. State, 17 F.L.W. 69 (Fla. January 23, 1991) (counsel did not contest the reasons and the trial court properly, within its discretion, accepted those reasons **as** race neutral). Further, the record demonstrates that the challenged juror was sufficiently questioned on both issues and that her answers to both questions differ from those of the seated jurors, specifically the juror that the prosecutor wanted seated over Ms. Davis, which demonstrates a race neutral basis for the prosecutor's rating scale.

Kramer states that the questioning of Ms. Davis about her feelings on the death penalty consisted of three questions, but he has apparently overlooked the juror questionnaire filled out by Ms. Davis. Significantly, in response to the question, "If the evidence and the law was such that the death penalty was appropriate in this case, could you vote to impase the death penalty?", Ms. Davis responded "No" (R 24, 1027). While she stated during questioning that she should have said, "...due to the circumstances. It all depends" (R 24), her original response, along with her apparent nervousness (R 23), certainly would give the prosecutor cause for concern, and justify his numerical evaluation of these responses as a three out of five. In this respect, appellee would point out that all of the other

- 9 --

jurors who were eventually seated, except Bordner,¹ simply responded "Yes" (R 1000, 1010, **1015, 1039, 1041, 1061, 1069,** 1071, 1079, 1081, 1085).

The record **also** demonstrates that the prosecutor put a lot of weight on the jurors response to his "personal responsibility" It is apparent from the prosecutor's initial question, explanation to the jurors that he was attempting to determine where each one fell on his spectrum of "not responsible" at one end to "fully responsible" at the other end. It is just as apparent from comparing Ms. Davis' response to the preferred juror Ms. Christiansen's response that the prosecutor's ratings were not arbitrary. Ms. Davis believed that people should be held responsible, but noted that there are circumstances sometimes, which the prosecutor rated as а four. Ms. Christiansen stated that people are responsible, which rated as a five, at the extreme end of the spectrum (R 247, 249, 295-96). These ratings are certainly consistent with the prosecutor's initial explanation.

Kramer also argues that the prosecutor's reason had to do with his own personal rating scale, and there is no basis in the record to indicate the basis for these ratings. Kramer contends that acceptance of this reason invites the most invidious form of discrimination. As was just demonstrated, the basis of the prosecutor's numerical evaluations of responses to the personal responsibility question is apparent from the record, Likewise,

¹ Bordner's response was "As a member of society, I am compelled to uphold the "law" of the land; therefor, I could vote to impose the death penalty" (R 998).

as was demonstrated, it is apparent why Ms. Davis was rated lower than Ms. Christiansen on the death penalty question. In addition, the prosecutor stated that he does not note the race of the jurors, and the trial court was well within his discretion in finding this credible. *Green, supra*.

Further, it must be remembered that this challenge was made as a backstrike. At the time the prosecutor was assigning a numerical value to each juror's response, he would have had no way of knowing who would eventually be the next juror to be seated in the event of a challenge. Thus, the prosecutor would have to manipulate the numbers beforehand at the risk of seating an undesirable white juror simply to strike a black juror. Appellee submits this is far to speculative and unbelievable, and there was no abuse of discretion in finding adequate and credible the state's reasons for striking one juror in order to reach another. *Kibler v. State*, 546 So.2d 710 (Fla. 1989).

POINT 2

THE TRTAL. COURT WAS CORRECT TN THE STATE'S SUSTAINING OBJECTION TO CROSS-EXAMINATION OF THE MEDICAL EXAMINER REGARDING NEEDLE MARKS ON THE VICTIM'S BODY.

Kramer contends that the defense should have been able to question the medical examiner about the presence of fresh needle marks on the victim's body. Kramer alleges that this could have shown that the victim was a drug addict, who in the latter stages of withdrawal became so crazed that he was prone to violence, which manifested itself in the form of pulling a knife on him. Appellee first contends that the issue is not cognizable for two reasons. First, there was no proffer of the question or what the witness rould have answered, so the claim is too speculative and thus not cognizable. *Lucas v. State*, 568 So.2d 1822 (Fla. 1990). Second, the alleged relevance of this evidence which has been offered on appeal was never argued to the trial court, and thus cannot be argued on appeal. *Bertolotti v. Dugger*, 514 So.2d 1095 (Fla. 1987).

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